FILED
Sep 16, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

Supreme Court No. 13000.0 Court of Appeals No. 73046-1-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SANDRA LEE ALLEN

Petitioner.

E RECEIVED

WASHINGTON STATE

SUGREME COURT

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

After receiving charitable donations, minister Sandra Allen was prosecuted for first degree theft. The State theorized that Ms. Allen committed theft by entering into a "partnership agreement" with the donor and spending the funds on matters other than her "ministry." Despite the lack of any proof of a "partnership," i.e., an association of two or more persons to carry on as co-owners a business for profit, the Court of Appeals affirmed. To reach this result, the court adopted the broadest definition of "partnership" in the dictionary, one not requiring a business for profit. Because the court's decision is contrary to precedent and the meaning of the terms "partner" and "partnership agreement" in the theft statutes is an issue of substantial public interest, this Court should grant review. The Court of Appeals also erred by holding there was sufficient evidence to prove theft by deception because Ms. Allen purportedly obtained the donations by misrepresenting herself as a "prophet." Because this "false prophet" theory violates the constitutional guarantees of freedom of religion, this Court should grant review to clarify that Washington courts do not adjudicate such matters.¹

¹ The Court of Appeals' decision was issued July 25, 2016. The Court denied Ms. Allen's motion for reconsideration on August 19, 2016. The two rulings are attached in the appendix.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. When a person exerts unauthorized control over "partnership" funds and has intent to deprive, the person has committed theft by embezzlement. The legislature expanded the theft statute to make theft of "partnership" funds qualify as embezzlement after the Court of Appeals held that it was not a crime for a partner to appropriate partnership property. State v. Birch, 36 Wn. App. 405, 675 P.2d 246 (1984); State v. Coria, 146 Wn.2d 631, 638, 48 P.3d 980 (2002). Despite this history, the Court of Appeals held that a "partnership" did not require proof of an association of two or more persons to carry on as co-owners a business for profit. Adopting the broadest meaning, the Court held that Ms. Allen entered into a "partnership agreement" because she had received donations for her "ministry." Did the Court of Appeals misconstrue the theft statute and err in determining there was sufficient proof that Ms. Allen stole "partnership" funds? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).
- 2. The constitutional guarantees of freedom of religion forbid the government from adjudicating the validity of religious claims. Here, the donor explained she gave her money to Ms. Allen because she believed Ms. Allen was God's prophet and that God commanded it. Recounting testimony that Ms. Allen had purportedly represented herself as a prophet who spoke to God and that God said the donor must give her money, the

Court of Appeals concluded there was sufficient evidence that Ms. Allen had committed theft by deception. Did the Court of Appeals violate long-standing precedent and fundamental constitutional principles by affirming based a theory that Ms. Allen was a "false" prophet? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), (4).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sandra Allen, a minister, preached the word of God and conducted outreach in the local community in Federal Way. 1/7/15RP 12, 14-15. A musician, Ms. Allen also sang and played the piano. 1/5/15RP 35; 1/7/15RP 14, 18. Unfortunately, in 2012 Ms. Allen was homeless and suffering from various medical conditions. 1/7/15RP 12, 16; 12/10/14RP 24-25; 12/15/14RP 100; 1/7/15RP 12-13. That summer, Ms. Allen met Elizabeth Hughes, a "spiritual" person who invited her to stay the night at her home. 1/5/15RP 20, 32-33. Afterward, Ms. Hughes paid for a hotel room for Ms. Allen and began to visit her regularly. 1/5/15RP 41-42, 111; Ex. 24.

Ms. Hughes was very impressed with Ms. Allen's Christianity and knowledge of the Bible. 1/5/15RP 37. Ms. Hughes believed that Ms. Allen was a "prophet" or "prophetess" of God. 1/5/15RP 35, 37; 1/7/15 RP 109. Ms. Allen took on a "pastoral . . . role towards" Ms. Hughes, meaning that Ms. Allen would pray for Ms. Hughes, teach her about the

Bible, and counsel her. 1/5/15RP 37, 54. They also attended churches together. 1/5/15RP 83.

While Ms. Allen denied it, Ms. Hughes testified Ms. Allen told her that she owed God for tithes that had not been properly paid for the past 10 or 12 years. 1/5/15RP 50, 63; 1/7/15RP 24; Ex. 32. Ms. Hughes calculated the amount she owed using her tax returns and made a tithing worksheet. 1/5/15RP 96; Ex. 32. According to Ms. Hughes, Ms. Allen told her that God wanted her to give the funds to Ms. Allen's ministry. 1/5/15RP 53-54, 60.

Ms. Hughes wrote out a personal check in the amount of \$11,335.84, obtained a cashier's check in the amount of \$44,194.87, and signed both to over to Ms. Allen. Ex. 8, 26. Ms. Hughes and Ms. Allen signed a document written by Ms. Allen, dated June 20, 2012, memorializing the donation:

Receipt of checks donated for outreach work, ministry building, church ministries, music publication, and helps. This is to confirm that I, Pastor Sandra Allen, received a donation of funds from Elizabeth Hughes for the outreach work and for needy and Federal Way Outreach Ministries to help the indigent and any needy people. Elizabeth Hughes donated these funds freely to the ministry to help the poor and the homeless. Funds were received on June 20th, 2012, 1:30 p.m. Elizabeth willingly donated these proceeds to help support this work and to help feed the needy, total amount, \$55,330.71.

Ex. 27. Ms. Hughes' worksheet also stated that Ms. Hughes gave \$58,000.00 to "Sandra Allen's ministry" on June 20, 2012. Ex. 32. Ms. Allen deposited the checks into her bank account. 1/5/15RP 62; Ex. 8.

Ms. Hughes wrote another personal check to Ms. Allen for \$21,500, which Ms. Allen deposited on June 29, 2012. 1/5/15RP 62; Ex. 8. Ms. Hughes explained that she gave the money because she owed God and that she was paying God through Ms. Allen and her ministry:

So it was tithe money. And so I owed God the tithe money. And in order to pay God, God is not in a physical body walking on the earth, so we give to the church. And she established herself as a pastor, established herself as setting up a ministry, and established herself as having a particular ministry purpose that is near and dear to my heart. And so that's the reason the money went to her.

1/5/15RP 63. Sometime later, after conducting her own research, Ms. Hughes changed her mind and called the police on July 10, 2012. 12/10/14RP 33-34; 1/5/15RP 77, 85.

Records showed Ms. Allen had either withdrawn or spent the donated funds in June and July 2012. Ex. 8. Ms. Allen had made many purchases, including buying a used car. Ex. 4, 8-10. Ms. Allen later explained that besides the purchases, the funds were used for donations, outreach, to pay Ms. Hughes for assisting her in her ministry, and for her living and medical expenses. 1/7/15RP 104-10.

The State charged Ms. Allen with first degree theft. ² CP 1, 10, 20. At trial, the State alleged two alternative means: theft by embezzlement and theft by deception. CP 33-35. The theft by embezzlement was premised on the theory that Ms. Allen had entered into a "partnership agreement" with Ms. Hughes. 12/10/14RP 5-12; 1/8/15RP 21-40; CP 36. Despite the two alternatives, the jury was only provided a general verdict form and was not instructed that it need be unanimous as to the alternative. CP 34, 45. The jury returned a guilty verdict. CP 45-46.

On appeal, Ms. Allen argued that the evidence was insufficient to sustain either alternative theory, requiring reversal and dismissal.

Alternatively, Ms. Allen argued that if the evidence was insufficient as to just one alternative, reversal and remand for a new trial was required because it could not be determined that the jury was unanimous as to either alternative.³ The Court of Appeals held the evidence was sufficient on both alternatives and affirmed.

² The State also charged Ms. Allen with perjury in the second degree, based on a false statement she had made to the Department of Social and Health Services about her employment status. CP 10-11, 20-21. This charge was dismissed on Ms. Allen's motion at trial. 1/5/15RP 151-22; CP 80.

³ Because the Court of Appeals held there was sufficient evidence as to both alternatives, the court did not reach this argument.

D. ARGUMENT

1. Misapplying precedent, the Court of Appeals misconstrued the meaning of the terms "partnership" and "partnership agreement," as used in the theft statutes. This Court should grant review and provide a definitive interpretation of these undefined statutory terms.

"A person commits the crime of theft in the first degree when he or she commits theft of property exceeding \$5000 in value." CP 32; accord RCW 9A.56.030(1)(a). Theft is an alternative means crime. State v. Linehan, 147 Wn.2d 638, 647, 56 P.3d 542 (2002).

One means of committing theft is to "wrongfully obtain or exert unauthorized control over the property or services of another or the value thereof, with intent to deprive him or her of such property or service." RCW 9A.56.020(1)(a). "Wrongfully obtains" or "exerts unauthorized control" means, among other things, "Having any property or services in one's possession, custody, or control as <u>partner</u>, to secrete, withhold, or appropriate the same to his or her use or to the use of any person other than the true owner or person entitled thereto, where the use is unauthorized by the <u>partnership agreement</u>." RCW 9A.56.010(22)(c) (emphasis added). The jury was so instructed. CP 36. The jury was not instructed on the other statutory meaning of "exerts unauthorized control." RCW 9A.56.010(22)(b).

The terms "partner" and "partnership agreement" are not defined in chapter 9A.56 RCW. Applying a plain meaning analysis and adopting the broadest definition in Webster's Third New International Dictionary (2002), the Court of Appeals held that a "partnership agreement" is "an agreement to associate for a common purpose" and "includes joint activities undertaken whether or not for profit." Slip. op. at 15. This Court should review this holding.

"When a statute fails to define a term, the term is presumed to have its common law meaning and the Legislature is presumed to know the prior judicial use of the term." State v. Torres, 151 Wn. App. 378, 384-85, 212 P.3d 573 (2009) (internal quotation omitted). The legislature did not define the terms "partner" or "partnership agreement" in the theft statutes. The legislature, however, was responding to a decision from the Court of Appeals in State v. Birch, 36 Wn. App. 405, 675 P.2d 246 (1984). In a later case, this Court recounted this history. State v. Coria, 146 Wn.2d 631, 648, 48 P.3d 980 (2002). Birch discussed the "legal" meaning of "partner" and "partnership," along with the Uniform Partnership Act. Birch, 36 Wn. App. at 410. The Uniform Partnership Act states that "[a] partnership is an association of two or more persons to carry on as coowners a business for profit." Partnership Defined, Uniform Partnership Act 1914 § 6. This definition was adopted in Washington in 1945 and was

applicable when <u>Birch</u> was decided. <u>Birch</u>, 36 Wn. App. at 408; <u>Eder v.</u> Reddick, 46 Wn.2d 41, 49, 278 P.2d 361 (1955) ("a partnership is defined as an association of two or more persons to carry on as co-owners a business for profit.").

Hence, when applying the well-established presumption that the legislature was aware of the law and judicial use of terminology, it follows that the legislature was using the terms "partner" and "partnership agreement" in the traditional "legal" sense. The Court of Appeals erred.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' characterization, this definition is not a "technical" one. "A term is 'technical' when it has a meaning that differs from common usage." State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 611, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). The dictionary defines "partner" as "one of two or more persons associated as joint principles in carrying on any business with a view to joint profit." Wester's Third New International Dictionary, 1648 (1993).

The Court of Appeals reasoned that even if the amendment was primarily a response to <u>Birch</u>, "that does not mean the legislature did not also intend to extend this alternative means to theft of property being used in a joint non-profit activity." Slip. op at 17. But criminal statutes are to be strictly construed, as even the Court of Appeals acknowledged in its

opinion. Slip. op at 14 (citing <u>State v. Garcia</u>, 179 Wn.2d 828, 837, 318 P.2d 266 (2014)).

Moreover, RCW 9A.56.010(22)(c) has to be read with RCW 9A.56.010(22)(b) in mind. State v. Conover, 183 Wn.2d 706, 711, 355 P.3d 1093 (2015) (to discern legislative intent, related provisions and statutory scheme is considered). Subsection (c) is an expansion of (b). Coria, 146 Wn.2d at 638. This subsection defines "exerts unauthorized control" as:

Having any property or services in one's possession, custody or control as bailee, factor, lessee, pledgee, renter, servant, attorney, agent, employee, trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, or officer of any person, estate, association, or corporation, or as a public officer, or person authorized by agreement or competent authority to take or hold such possession, custody, or control, to secrete, withhold, or appropriate the same to his or her own use or to the use of any person other than the true owner or person entitled thereto;

RCW 9A.56.010(22)(b) (emphasis added).⁴ Hence, under this subsection an officer may exert unauthorized control over funds of the association or corporation, be it non-profit or not. Moreover, a person may also exert unauthorized control if he or she uses funds in a manner that is contrary to an "agreement." See, e.g., State v. Joy, 121 Wn.2d 333, 339-42, 851 P.2d

⁴ The jury was not instructed under this subsection and the State pursued a "partnership" theory. 1/8/15RP 39-40.

654 (1993) (contractor guilty of theft when contractor did not use funds earmarked under contract for certain materials). Hence, a person's misuse of funds for non-profit activities may be theft when there is a non-profit entity (an association or corporation), or when there is "agreement" that earmarks the funds for a specific purpose (irrespective of profit). No legislative history was unearthed showing that the legislature meant to capture additional non-profit activity when enacting subsection (c).

The rule of lenity requires that ambiguous criminal statutes be strictly construed in the defendant's favor. Conover, 183 Wn.2d at 711-12; State v. Evans, 177 Wn.2d 186, 193, 298 P.3d 724 (2013). A statute is ambiguous if more than one reasonable interpretation exists. Conover, 183 Wn.2d at 711-12. The "rule of lenity ensures that criminal statutes will provide fair warning concerning conduct rendered illegal and strikes the appropriate balance between the legislature, the prosecutor, and the court in defining criminal liability." Liparota v. United States, 471 U.S. 419, 427, 105 S. Ct. 2084, 85 L. Ed. 2d 434 (1985) (emphasis added). At the least, Ms. Allen's interpretation of the term "partnership" is reasonable. Thus, if there is any doubt on the matter, the rule of lenity dictated that the statute be construed in Ms. Allen's favor.

The Court of Appeals' holding in this case is a judicial expansion of the criminal law of theft not contemplated by the legislature. Under the

court's reasoning, churches, charitable organizations, crowdfunders,⁵ and panhandlers become "partners" exposed to criminal liability if they receive a donation for a specific purpose and do not use the donation for that purpose. Thus, this case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Applying the rules of statutory construction, the term "partnership" in RCW 9A.56.010(22)(c) means an association of two or more persons to carry on as co-owners a business for profit. The Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). This Court should grant review on whether the evidence was sufficient to prove the State's novel theft by embezzlement theory.

2. Contrary to precedent and violating constitutional principles separating church and state, the Court of Appeals incorrectly held that evidence of Ms. Allen being a "false prophet" was sufficient to prove theft by deception. This Court should grant review to clarify that Washington courts do not adjudicate the truth or falsity of religious claims.

The State's other theory was that Ms. Allen committed theft by obtaining Ms. Hughes' property through color or aid of deception.

1/8/15RP 40-43. Under this theory, the State bore the burden to prove that there was deception which induced Ms. Hughes to turn over the property.

⁵ <u>See https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Crowdfunding</u> (last accessed September 13, 2016). Many websites allow people to solicit donations for projects or for personal needs. <u>See, e.g., http://www.kickstarter.com</u> and http://www.gofundme.com.

CP 37; 9A.56.010(4). But if Ms. Hughes would have given her money to Ms. Allen regardless of any deception, there was no theft. State v. Renhard, 71 Wn.2d 670, 672, 430 P.2d 557 (1967).

At trial, the State identified the deception by Ms. Allen as being of a secular nature. The State identified Ms. Allen's deception as consisting of her statements on (1) how the money would be spent; (2) her success as a musician; and (3) how well she knew certain people in the community. 1/8/15RP 41-43. While there was evidence to support that these statements had been made by Ms. Allen, the problem is that Ms. Hughes testified *repeatedly* that she gave the money because she believed this was fulfilling God's will. 1/5/15RP 50, 53-54, 62-64, 103, 112, 122, 133. Thus, the evidence established that regardless of the identified deception at trial, Ms. Hughes would have given her money to Ms. Allen.

On appeal, the State broadened its argument to include *religious* representations by Ms. Allen as the deceptive conduct. For example, the State contended its "evidence showed . . . that [Ms.] Allen portrayed herself falsely as a prophet of God . . ." Br. of Resp't at 1. The State argued that Ms. Allen made a "phony" claim of being connected with God. Br. of Resp't at 15-16. The State went as far as arguing that a rational jury "could easily conclude that [Ms.] Allen was a false prophet,

so the tithing order from God was itself a relied-upon deception." Br. of Resp't at 31.

As argued in her Reply Brief, the State's arguments were improper because the Washington Constitution and the First Amendment to the United States Constitution protect freedom of expression and religion.

U.S. Const. amend. I; Const. art. I, § 5, 11. Reply Br. at 9-12. Citizens may peacefully seek to spread their religious beliefs in public and solicit donations without fear of criminal prosecution. Cantwell v. State of

Connecticut, 310 U.S. 296, 301, 60 S. Ct. 900, 84 L. Ed. 1213 (1940)

(prosecution of Jehovah's Witnesses for peacefully discussing their religion in public and soliciting donations violated First Amendment).

Courts may not inquire into the truth or sincerity of a person's religious beliefs. United States v. Ballard, 322 U.S. 78, 86-87, 64 S. Ct. 882, 88 L.

Ed. 1148 (1944) ("we do not agree that the truth or verity of respondents' religious doctrines or beliefs should have been submitted to the jury.").

The State's "false prophet" theory was inimical to these fundamental principles.

Yet, without any real discussion of the issue or attempt to separate the religious from the secular, the Court of Appeals accepted the State's argument:

The State presented ample evidence of deception here. Hughes testified that Allen presented herself as a well-known pastor and prophet. Allen claimed to communicate with God, and she told Hughes that God commanded she pay money to Allen. Allen consistently reminded Hughes that if she did not obey God or the 'the prophet,' bad things would happen, including earthquakes and even harm to her children.

Slip. op. at 20-21. The court further asserted that Ms. "Hughes specifically testified she would not have given [Ms.] Allen such a large amount of money had she known the truth." Slip. op. at 21 (emphasis added). The record does not support the court's assertion. Further, "the truth" that the court appears to be referring to is that Ms. Allen "falsely" represented herself as a prophet of God. But courts in the United States do *not* adjudicate whether a person speaks for God. If they did, many preachers or televangelists might find themselves in court.

Ms. Hughes testified unequivocally that she gave her money to Ms. Allen because she believed God commanded it. Applying the rule of Renhard, there was no theft by deception because no secular deception induced Ms. Hughes to give the money to Ms. Allen. Thus, the Court of Appeals opinion is in conflict with precedent. Further, the "false prophet" theory of deception violates the First Amendment, article I, § 11, and long-standing precedent. This issue merits review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), (4).