Oct 12, 2016, 12:23 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93660-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SANDRA LEE ALLEN,

Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE LEROY MCCULLOUGH

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

IAN ITH
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse
516 3rd Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 477-9497



ORIGINAL

A. INTRODUCTION

Sandra Lee Allen has filed a petition for review of the unpublished Court of Appeals opinion in State v. Allen, No. 73046-1-I, 2016 WL 3982909, affirming her conviction for first degree theft. Allen seeks review of two issues: (1) whether the Court of Appeals properly rejected Allen's statutory interpretation of the terms "partner" and "partnership agreement" in finding sufficient evidence of theft by exerting unauthorized control of property as a partner; and (2) whether Allen's conviction violates the First Amendment. The State respectfully asks this Court to deny review because (1) the First Amendment claim is a new legal issue that may not be raised here; and (2) the statutory interpretation of the definitional terms is not an issue of substantial public interest meriting review by this Court.

B. STANDARD FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the

petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.” RAP 13.4(b).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The procedural and substantive facts of this case are well-stated in the Court of Appeals opinion, and are even more thoroughly recited in the State's briefing to the Court of Appeals. Most relevant to Allen's petition for review:

The victim in this case, Elizabeth Hughes, met Sandra Allen in the spring of 2012 and quickly grew to trust Allen as a Christian pastor, a friend and a confidante. 9RP 41; 11RP 20-22, 31.¹ Allen claimed to be a “prophetess” and highly-paid recording artist with an established ministry and important friends in the Christian community, and she spoke of plans to “start an outreach center for homeless people” in Federal Way. 11RP 54, 81-83. Hughes ended up transferring to Allen about \$77,000, nearly all of her family's life savings. 11RP 45-48; CP 62, 68. Allen wrote out a “receipt” for \$55,000 of that money that said it was intended for

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is divided into 15 individually numbered volumes, which the State referred to as: 1RP (August 8, 2014); 2RP (October 16, 2014); 3RP (October 20, 2014); 4RP (December 4, 2014); 5RP (December 8, 2014); 6RP (December 9, 2014); 7RP (December 10, 2014); 8RP (December 15, 2014); 9RP (December 16, 2014); 10RP (December 17, 2014); 11RP (January 5, 2015); 12RP (January 7, 2015); 13RP (January 8, 2015); 14RP (January 9, 2015); and 15RP (February 13, 2015).

“outreach work, ministry building, and church ministries, and music publications, and helps.” Ex. 27.

Hughes later testified that, based on Allen’s pretenses, she intended and understood that the money was for a ministry that they would build together cooperatively, and that Allen would pay back the money from Allen’s lucrative record contracts, and it was not for Allen’s personal enrichment. 11RP 79-80, 133. Hughes testified she never would have given Allen tens of thousands of dollars otherwise. 11RP 79. Allen spent nearly all the money on a car and personal shopping. 8RP 45-59.

Allen testified in her own defense and denied having any ministry, ever claiming to be a prophetess, or demanding any religious “tithing” from Hughes. 12RP 24. 12RP 11-144. In fact, she denied any religious motivations at all, and claimed it was Hughes who claimed to be a prophetess and the ministry was all Hughes’ idea. 12RP 33. Allen claimed that Hughes gave her the money without being asked, as a surprise gift, because Allen needed help. 12RP 20.

The State charged Hughes with first-degree theft under two alternative means: Theft by color or aid of deception and exerting

unauthorized control over property as a partner. CP 20-21, 32-38.

The jury convicted her of that charge. CP 45.

On direct appeal, Allen made two assignments of error:

(1) her conviction violated the due process clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment of the federal constitution and Article I, Section 3 of the state constitution because there was insufficient evidence to convict her of first degree theft under either prong; and (2) her right to a unanimous verdict under Article I, Section 21 of the state constitution was violated. Appellant's Opening Brief (AOB) at 1. In her opening brief, Allen's only mention of the First Amendment was in arguing that the State's evidence was insufficient to prove unauthorized control of partnership funds because "Hughes' money was a donation to God and Ms. Allen's ministry, not a business investment," and both Hughes and Allen were free to do with it as they pleased. AOB at 17.

In response, the State noted that Allen's entire argument relied on viewing the evidence in Allen's light — that all the money was given as no-strings-attached donations — and the argument ignored all the other evidence of Allen's other falsehoods and promises. Brief of Respondent (BOR) at 29-32. The State noted that in analyzing the evidence in the light most favorable to the

State, any rational jury could have concluded that Allen's entire persona, including being a well-connected "prophet," was false and deceptive. BOR at 31.

In her Appellant's Reply Brief (ARB), Allen made a more detailed argument about the free exercise of religion under the First Amendment, including a verbatim excerpt from the United States Supreme Court that exceeded an entire page, single-spaced. ARB at 8-12. But Allen's free-exercise argument was still in the context of evaluating the sufficiency of the evidence, concluding that "in reviewing the record for evidence of deception that induced Ms. Hughes to transfer money to Ms. Allen, this Court cannot rely on the State's 'false prophet' theory" because that would be unconstitutional. ARB at 12.

In its unpublished opinion, the court of appeals did not address the First Amendment or any of Allen's religious-freedom arguments. It simply stated that as to the sufficiency-of-the-evidence claim before the court, the "State presented ample evidence of deception here," including Allen's portrayal as a "well-known pastor and prophet," her promise to pay Hughes back from record deals, and her threats of divine vengeance if Hughes did not pay up. Allen, 73046-1-I, 2016 WL 3982909, at *10. The court also

reiterated that its review required viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the State. Id.

As to Allen's partnership argument, the court of appeals determined that "nothing in the statute's plain language or legislative history suggests that the legislature intended to strictly limit the term 'partnership agreement' to the technical definition Allen proposes." Id. at *7. It held: "Viewed in a light most favorable to the State, there is sufficient evidence allowing a jury to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Allen's purchases violated their agreement." Id. at *10.

D. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

1. ALLEN MAY NOT RAISE A NEW ISSUE IN A PETITION FOR REVIEW.

The basic premise of Allen's challenges to her conviction has not changed: that it was not illegal for her to take Hughes' money. But now she is raising a new legal claim, that her first-degree theft conviction under a supposed "false prophet theory" directly violated the First Amendment. Allen did not assign a First Amendment error at the Court of Appeals. Consequently, the Court of Appeals has issued no decision on the matter. This Court will not ordinarily consider an issue not raised or briefed in the Court of

Appeals. State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993); RAP 13.3(a) (allowing a party to seek review by the Supreme Court of a “decision” of the Court of Appeals). See also Pappas v. Hershberger, 85 Wn.2d 152, 153, 530 P.2d 642 (1975) (assignments of error not made in appellant’s opening brief to the court of appeals are abandoned). Accordingly, this Court should not accept review of this alleged error.

Certainly, Allen made lengthy religious-freedom arguments in her reply brief to the court of appeals. But those arguments were not assignments of trial error. See RAP 10.3(a)(4). They were not framed as Allen is attempting to frame them now — that her theft conviction directly violated her First Amendment rights. Her actual assignments of error were confined to due process claims, and her religious claims were made strictly in the context of arguing which evidence the court of appeals could consider in determining the sufficiency of the evidence. And, in fact, Allen’s claim that the State relied on a “false prophet theory” to convict Allen comes not from anything in the trial record but from the single use of the phrase

“false prophet” in the State’s Brief of Respondent in the court of appeals.²

Consequently, the court of appeals did not address Allen’s religious arguments because it did not need to: To succeed, Allen’s religious arguments require viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Allen and disbelieving the State’s evidence, particularly the testimony of the victim herself, Hughes. Allen’s religious-freedom protestations require concluding that all of Hughes’ money was handed over as pure donations or gifts based solely on religious fervor. As the court of appeals correctly decided, there was ample evidence for the jury to find the opposite. After all, Allen herself disavowed religious motivations in her own trial testimony.

Essentially, Allen’s new argument is a roundabout and wholly unsupported as-applied constitutional challenge to the state’s theft statutes. The court of appeals did not have the opportunity to address this complex and strained First Amendment issue because Allen did not present it to them. Further, even if Allen were allowed to make this assignment of error now, she has not even begun to meet her basic threshold burden of

² See Petition for Discretionary Review at 13 (“On appeal, the State broadened its argument to include *religious* representations by Ms. Allen as the deceptive conduct.”) (emphasis in original).

demonstrating that our theft statutes constitute an undue burden on her free exercise of religion, i.e., having a coercive effect operating against her ability to practice her religion. See Munns v. Martin, 131 Wn.2d 192, 200, 930 P.2d 318 (1997) (threshold burden for free-exercise challenges).

This Court should decline to review Allen's new assignment of error under the First Amendment.

2. THE "PARTNERSHIP" ISSUE DOES NOT MEET THE CRITERIA FOR REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(b).

Allen proposes that the lower court's unpublished rejection of her interpretation of the terms "partner" and "partnership agreement" in the theft statute³ was a "judicial expansion of the criminal law of theft" that merits review as an issue of substantial public interest. Petition for Discretionary Review (PDR) at 1, 11; RAP 13.4(b)(4). It was not. Her petition should be denied.

First, the court of appeals correctly noted that Allen provided no real authority for her extremely narrow interpretation of the statutory terms. Allen, 73046-1-I, 2016 WL 3982909, at *7. As the appellate court keenly observed, Allen's reasoning flowed from a

³ RCW 9A.56.010(22)(c).

single sentence of *dicta* in State v. Coria,⁴ that “the legislature made it a crime for a partner to steal partnership property” in response to State v. Birch.⁵ But, as the court of appeals also pointed out, even if that is true, it does not follow that the legislature necessarily restricted its lawmaking to the factual circumstances of Birch, and the legislature had the opportunity to define the terms and did not. Allen, 73046-1-I, 2016 WL 3982909, at *8. See also State v. Glas, 147 Wn.2d 410, 417, 54 P.3d 147 (2002) (court may not add language to a clear statute, even if it believes legislature intended something else but failed to express it adequately).

That is hardly an argument worthy of review as an issue of substantial public interest. Moreover, the dearth of cases on this particular issue demonstrates that this is an uncommon issue unlikely to arise except in unusual circumstances. It is not of substantial public interest.

Additionally, it should be noted that Allen’s petition for review on this issue includes an argument that was not raised at the court of appeals: that a separate subsection of the definitional statute, RCW 9A.56.010(22)(b) (pertaining to agents, trustees, officers and

⁴ 146 Wn.2d 631, 638, 48 P.3d 980, 983 (2002).

⁵ 36 Wn. App. 405, 410, 675 P.2d 246 (1984).

other such people entrusted with other people's property) covers partners in non-profit ventures. PDR at 10-11. This is a baseless argument, because that subsection specifically addresses custodians of property of others, which partnership funds are not (and the very reason why partnership funds are addressed in a separate subsection). Regardless, Allen may not make this new argument for the first time in a petition for review. See Halstien, 122 Wn.2d at 130.

Allen fails to show that the public has a substantial interest meriting this Court's review. Her petition for review should be denied.